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BOCODOL is a parastatal entity, a creation 
of the statute, established under the BO-
CODOL Act, No. 20, (Cap 57:03) of 1998, 
whose core mandate is to make education 
accessible to out of school youth and adults 
through provision of education by open 
and distance learning.  BOCODOL provides 
tertiary education, professional training 
and secondary education. The College’s 
operations are funded by the Shareholder, 
Government and the College generates ad-
ditional income to meet the needs of its op-
erations. 

BOCODOL exists alongside other local edu-
cation institutions, public and private offer-
ing tertiary education. The market has thus 
become competetive. However, BOCODOL 
has an advantage because of the unique 
Open Distance Learning (ODL) mode of ed-
ucation delivery it uses.

BOCODOL is at the moment undergoing 
transformation into an Open University and 
is at the tail end of the process.

Organisational overview



B O C O D O L  a n n u a l  r e p o r t  |  3

Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL) has its Headquarters in Gaborone and five 
regional offices in Gaborone, Kang, Maun, Francistown and, Palapye.  Each regional office serves as an 
administrative support centre and provides learner support through the learning centres strategically 
located across the country.

Where to find BOCODOL

Francistown Regional Centre
P/Bag F2
Francistown
Tel: 2418383

Maun Regional Centre
P/Bag 0394
Maun 
Tel: 6800582

Kang Regional Centre
P/Bag 006
Kang
Tel: 6517248

Gaborone Regional Centre
P/Bag BO349 Bontleng
Gaborone
Tel: 3646100/3930017

Palapye Regional Centre
P/Bag 005
Palapye
Tel: 4924024/4924516

Follow BOCODOL on Facebook and Twitter www.bocodol.ac.bw

.

.
.
.

.
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It is my pleasure to present the 
2016/17 annual report for BO-
CODOL, which is produced in ac-
cordance with Section 25 of the 
BOCODOL Act, No. 20 of 1998, 
(Cap 57:03), Laws of Botswana.

The report provides operational 
and financial highlights in respect 
of the year under review. The Col-
lege continued to perform well as 
in the prior years despite the re-
source constrained environment 
in which it operated.

The Board was seized with provi-
sion of oversight to implementa-
tion of projects geared towards 

t ransfor ma-
tion of BO-
CODOL into 
an Open 
University in 
line with the 
Presidential 
Directive Cab 
37(A) of 2011, 
which gave 
permission for 
the College to 
undergo the 
t ransfor ma-

tion albeit in phases. In addition, 
the Board had to ensure that busi-
ness continuity was not compro-
mised by the referred transforma-
tion.

I thank the Board for its prudence 
in the provision of governance 
oversight and strategic direction. 
In the year under review, the Board 
strengthened its governance over-
sight by adopting new tools and 
using the same. The Board priori-
tised risk governance and adopt-
ed the Risk Management Frame-
work which institutionalised risk 
assessment College-wide. The 

Board further demonstrated its 
commitment to adhering to prin-
ciples of corporate governance by 
undergoing formal evaluations 
which were carried out with the 
assistance of an independent con-
sultant. The Board revised its Char-
ters, and adopted a new Code of 
Conduct. A detailed review of how 
the College manages its gover-
nance obligations is found in the 
Governance Report at pages 4 -6 
of the Annual Report.

I also thank Management for the 
zeal and conscientiousness in the 
execution of the 2016/17 opera-
tional plan. Credit goes to Govern-
ment for the continued support 
with financial resources and pol-
icy direction. Clearly, the course 
of ODL in Botswana is becoming 
clearer, with results evident for all 
to see. The College continued to 
increase access to education and 
training nationally. Many citizens, 
who could have gone on without 
an opportunity to upgrade their 
qualifications, skills and knowl-
edge, continued to enrol and 
graduate through BOCODOL. The 

Foreword by Board Chairperson 
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Clearly, the course of 
ODL in Botswana is be-
coming clearer, with 
results evident for all to 
see. The College contin-
ued to increase access 
to eduction and train-
ing nationally.

‘

‘

College enrolled a total of 13 844 
learners in the year under report-
ing and recorded a throughput of 
6 871, with a total of 1055 grad-
uands at tertiary level.  

It would be a remiss of me if I did 
not recognise the contribution of 
our local, regional and internation-
al partners towards the growth of 
BOCODOL and ODL in Botswana. 
It is my hope that our partners will 
continue to offer support to our 
institution as it braces itself for the 
impending transformation. Need-
less to mention, our expectation is 
that the transformation will repre-
sent a critical milestone in the in-
stitutionalisation of ODL as a com-
plementary mode of education 
delivery and/or an integral part of 
the education and training system 
of Botswana.

Thank you so much.

Abel Modungwa 
Chairperson 

Foreword by Board Chairperson 
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Model. The review 
focuses on the four 
perspectives of the 
scorecard; Busi-
ness Results, Cus-
tomer/Stakeholder, 
Processes and Re-
s o u r c e s / P e o p l e 
perspectives.While 
the College experi-
enced gross short-
age of funds due to 
some transitional 
demands on its 

repositioning for the University 
status, the overall performance 
for the business results stood at 
88.2%. The shortage of funds in 
the year saw the completion rate 
at tertiary and the pass rates at 
open schooling taking a nose-
dive.  Several support initiatives 
had to give way to other corpo-
rate level activities. Moreover, 
the enrolments for tertiary pro-
grammes fell drastically during 
the planned period. This is largely 
attributable to the piloting of a 
fully-fledged online application 
and registration system. Many 
potential learners might have 
struggled with the new technol-
ogy and got discouraged in the 
process.  We remain committed 
to improving the situation in the 

next enrolment.

Despite the lukewarm customer sat-
isfaction rates attained in the year, 
we are particularly humbled by the 
high retention rate (93%). This, to us, 
is an indication of customer loyalty 
and trust in the College’s products 
and services. We hope to improve 
our learner experience in the next 
planning year.

During the year under review, a new 
school; the School of Science and 
Technology, was born – causing the 
College to operate with a comple-
ment of four schools. This was made 
possible by our continued invest-
ment on both local and interna-
tional collaborations and partner-
ships. We continue to do well on 
ODL Quality Index – attaining 65% 
with respect to a target of 65%. This 
is mainly due to our uncompromis-
ing quality assurance initiatives that 
extend beyond our national bor-
ders to take advantage of regional 
best practices. In the planning year, 
we hosted a quality assurance team 
from NAMCOL (Namibia) who audit-
ed our processes and gave positive 
reports on our compliance levels.

Regarding technology uptake, the 
College continues to leverage on 

It has become a norm for BOCODOL 
to share its annual performance high-
lights with the public. I, together with 
my College Management, therefore, 
wish to present to the public and our 
stakeholders a performance report of 
the institution for the year 2016/17.
The College launched its 2016-2020 
Strategic Plan in July 2016. While the 
strategy was drawn under the as-
sumption that the College would have 
transformed into an Open University, 
by the time of the launch, the bill had 
not yet been passed. By the end of 
the first financial year of the plan, the 
bill had still not been passed. Never-
theless, the College went on with the 
rest of the activities as planned. At the 
end of the financial year, as common 
practice, the College reviewed its per-
formance on the Balanced Scorecard 

Executive Director’s Statement
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Executive Director’s Statement

the available infrastructure to take 
its services to every corner of the 
country and beyond. The piloting 
of online registration has yielded 
positive results and will improve as 
we institutionalize it further in the 
subsequent years. The BOCODOL 
online radio also saw its streaming 
into the website in the year under 
review. The College continues to 
strive for visibility and accessibility 
through leveraging technology.

In the quest to improve the gover-
nance, the College, with the guid-
ance of the Board of Governors, has 
since split the Support services into 
two divisions; Corporate Services 
and Student Services. This has since 
caused a shift in the reporting lines 
of the College while at the same 
time smoothening the efficiencies 

of delivery of services.

I wish to conclude by thanking 
the BOCODOL Board of Governors 
for their informed guidance at all 
times. Their continued quest for the 
transformation of this institution is 
not in vain. To my colleagues, the 
BOCODOL staff, your patience is in 
no way a passive venture – the re-
sults speak for you. We are at the 
verge of our transformation destiny 
I think it makes common sense to 
bid our time a little more. 

I thank everybody for staying the 
course.

Thank you.

Dr Daniel R Tau

we are particularly 
humbled by the high 
retention rate (93%). 
This, to us, is an indica-
tion of customer loy-
alty and trust in the 
College’s products and 
services. 

‘

‘
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BOCODOL Management 
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BOCODOL Board

BOCODOL Executive Management
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Prof F Youngman
Deputy Executive 

Director
Academic Services

Ms M B Maroba
Deputy Executive 

Director
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Corporate  Governance 

Statement of Commitment

BOCODOL subscribes to the principles of good cor-
porate governance, with inspiration from King III 
Code. The Board of Directors is governed by the BO-
CODOL Board Charter. The Board is committed to im-
proving corporate governance practices and ensures 
BOCODOL goes beyond the mere tick box exercise. 
The Board ensures that BOCODOL observes the high-
est standards of professionalism and integrity in its 
dealings with stakeholders and is committed to put-
ting the interests of its customers first.

The Board of Directors

BOCODOL is led by a dedicated Board of Directors 
appointed in terms of Section 4 the BOCODOL Act.
 
Primary Role

The BOCODOL Board is responsible for steering and 
setting strategic direction of the College, approving 
policies, planning, providing oversight for imple-
mentation of initiatives, and encouraging account-
ability through reporting and disclosure.

Composition

The Board is constituted by 13 members appointed 
in terms of the BOCODOL Act. The Act prescribes rep-
resentation from the following government and pri-
vate entities:
•	 two people from the Ministry of Education 
•	 one from Directorate of Public Service Manage-

ment
•	 one from Botswana Qualifications Authority,
•	 one from Ministry of Labour and Home Affairs
•	 one from the Ministry of Finance and Develop-

ment Planning,

•	 one from Botswana Federation of Trade Unions,
•	 one from Centre for Continuing Education
•	 one College staff representative
•	 one from Private Tertiary Institution
•	 two representing Private Sector
•	 The Executive Director who is an ex-officio mem-

ber.

The BOCODOL Board for 2016/17 was composed of 
the following members:

1. Mr Abel Modungwa (Board Chairperson)- BQA
2. Dr Daniel Tau - Executive Director of BOCODOL
3. Ms Joyce K. Maphorisa (Board Vice-Chairperson) 

- Private Sector
4. Ms Matshidiso Tlhong - Private Sector;
5. Mr Simon Coles - Ministry of Basic Education 
6. Mr Ndondo Koolese-Ministry of Basic Education 
7. Dr Ernest Makhwaje-Ministry of Finance and Eco-

nomic Development
8. Ms Lebohang Letsie - Botswana Federation of 

Trade Unions
9. Dr Innocent Botshelo - Centre for Continuing Ed-

ucation, UB
10. Mr Victor Maika - College staff representative
11. Mr Odirile Gabasiane - Private Tertiary Institu-

tions.
12. Ms Keba Nyati -Directorate of Public Service Man-

agement
13. Ms Dineo Phuti - Ministry of Youth Empower-

ment, Sport and Culture    Development.

Ms Keba Nyati was appointed to the Board in July 
2017, replacing Dr Theophilus Mooko.

Corporate governance refers to the way in which organisations are governed. It is concerned 
with practises and procedures for trying to ensure that an organisation achieves its objectives. 
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Tenure of Office

Members hold office for a term not exceeding 3 years 
and are eligible for reappointment.

Meetings of the Board

The Act prescribes at least three meetings per year, 
with provision for special meetings as and when need 
arises. The quorum is 8 members. 

Board Committees

The Board functions through three Committees being 
the Programmes Committee, Human Resources Com-
mittee and the Finance Committee.

Finance Committee: 

The Committee is responsible for the management of 
the finances of the College. It is composed of the fol-
lowing:

•	 Ms Matshidiso Tlhong – Chairperson
•	 Dr Daniel R. Tau
•	 Dr Innocent S. Botshelo
•	 Mr Ndondo Koolese
•	 Dr Ernest N. Makhwaje

Programmes Committee: 

It is responsible for the College’s academic affairs and 
deals with issues of programme development, pro-
duction, delivery and evaluation. It is constituted as 
follows:

•	 Ms Dineo Phuti – Chairperson
•	 Dr Daniel R. Tau.

•	 Dr Innocent S. Botshelo
•	 Mr Victor B. Maika
•	 Mr Ndondo Koolese

Human Resources Committee:  

The Committee is responsible for human resources 
management and staff welfare. It is constituted by the 
following:

•	 Mr Odirile B. Gabasiane – Chairperson
•	 Dr Daniel R. Tau
•	 Ms Joyce K. Maphorisa
•	 Mr Victor Maika
•	 Ms Keba M.F. Nyati
•	 Ms Lebohang Letsie

Directors’ Remuneration 

Members are only remunerated sitting allowance and 
for members who are Government employees, the al-
lowances revert to Government. The allowances are 
P735.00 and P588.00 for Chairperson and ordinary 
members respectively.

Board Secretary

The Board is supported and guided in its governance 
resposibilities by a qualified Secretary who is also the 
Legal Advisor of the College.
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Director’s Attendance Register: Statutory Meetings

Director Board Finance
Committee

Human 
Resources 

Committee

Programme 
Committee

Mr Abel Modungwa 3/3

Dr Daniel Tau 3/3 3/3 3/3 3/3

Ms Joyce Maphorisa 1/3 1/3

Mr Odirile Gabasiane 1/3 2/3

Mr Victor Maika 3/3 3/3 3/3

Ms Matshidiso Tlhong 3/3 2/3

*Ms Keba Nyati 1/2 2/2

Dr Innocent Botshelo 3/3 3/3 3/3

Dr Ernest Makhwaje 2/3 2/3

Mr Simon Coles 2/3 3/3

Ms Lebohang Letsie 3/3 3/3

Mr Ndondo Koolese 1/3  1/3

Ms Dineo Phuti 1/3 2/3

* Ms Keba Nyati was replacing Dr Theophilus Mooko in July 2016

Corporate Governance Assessment

In its quest to improving corporate governance, 
the Board took an initiative to have BOCODOL as-
sessed on the extent to which it practiced good 
corporate governance. An independent consul-
tant on corporate governance from Business Di-
rect was engaged to undertake this exercise. The 
Board also engaged independent personnel to 
conduct Board evaluation.

Governance of Risk

BOCODOL too has risks that affect its ability to cre-
ate value in the short, medium and long run and 
has devised mechanisms of dealing with them. In 
November 2016 the Board approved a Risk Man-
agement Framework, which anchors processes for 
managing risks in the organisation. Risk manage-

ment awareness and training across the organisa-
tion then commenced.

Going Forward

The Board is committed to improving its process-
es and aims higher in the next reporting period. 
The Board undertakes to amongst others, increase 
training of its senior personnel and Board to im-
prove corporate Governance.

Board’s Governance Protocols

The Board in March 2017 adopted the board code 
of conduct in line with corporate governance to 
guide critical & effective leadership and terms of 
reference for its subcommittees.
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BOCODOL HAS A ROLE TO PLAY IN LOCAL COMMUNITIES

Kang Regional Staff renovated a dilapidated house, connected water to it, fenced it and also built a toilet

Maun Regional Centre connected a water tap to Mr Mogomotsi Dikole
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BOCODOL participated in CSR initiatives through its Regional offices in Kang and in Maun. In Maun the 
College made a donation to an underprivileged individual in the likes of Mr. Mogomotsi Dikole. Mr. Dikole 
(35) is a stroke survivor, is a registered destitute, and is also permanently disabled in the Maun Administra-
tion Authority (MAA). The College, represented by the staff in the Maun Region, connected water to the 
compound and into the house which had been donated by the local Council. The house had a fitted bath-
room, shower and a toilet which initially had no water. The Maun Regional staff went further to procure 
Mr. Dikole some household items like curtains and a chest of drawers. The handover ceremony was graced 
by the Village leadership in the likes of Kgosi Kealetile Moremi and the Maun East Member of Parliament; 
Honourable Konstantinos Markus. The event was a huge success and served as a reminder to all - institu-
tions and individuals, that sharing is caring.  

BOCODOL was also busy in Kang where they renovated a dilapidated house, connected water to it, fenced 
it and also built a toilet. BOCODOL also bought the recipient groceries, a chest of drawers and a bed with 
full bedding.  The recipient of the BOCODOL CSR project was lost for words at the handing over ceremony. 
His younger brother expressed profound gratitude to BOCODOL for such a noble gesture. He hoped that 
the College will continue with such good deeds even in the future. The occasion was attended by the Vil-
lage Kgosi, Kgosi Seipone, the local Councillor, and the District Commissioner based in Kang among many 
other people.  

The College, through the School of Education continues to support a ‘’house’’ at Tlokweng SOS. The sup-
port entails giving the eight children in the house grocery and clothing items to the tune of P1000 month-
ly. The relationship with the institution has been in existence for the past three years now. 

BOCODOL will continue to exist as a caring institution and bring change to the lives of Batswana.

HEALTH AND WELLNESS

The annual Health and Wellness day for 2016/17 at Headquarters was postponed due to cash flow chal-
lenges experienced by the College.
However, the College managed to facilitate two team building retreats for Maun and Kang Regional Cen-
tres. This was designed to give employees the much needed rest from work, help them unwind, make 
alliances and strategize for better productivity in the work place. These two retreats were facilitated by Mr. 
Kabelo Brown of Big Talk Communications.
The two sessions covered the following topics and issues:
•	 Developing	good	working	relationships	between	all	members.	
•	 Creating	synergy	within	different	units	in	the	Region.
•	 Effective	communication	within	the	team.	
•	 Enhancing	the	interpersonal	relationships	among	team	members.	
•	 Discovering	effective	ways	to	get	tasks	accomplished.	
•	 Enhancing	problem	solving	skills.		
•	 Having	fun,	unwinding	and	learning	in	a	very	memorable	way	within	an	
  enabling environment  
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The staff members were impressed about the whole arrangement and wished this could be sustained as it 
is critical for their motivation and conscientisation on health issues.

Counselling and Referral 

The College has continued to provide counselling sessions to employees on various health and wellness 
issues using internal counsellors. However, the College refers cases that need specialised attention to exter-
nal counsellors for their intervention. 

End of  Year Awards Ceremony

The College held its awards ceremony in December 2016 where employees who had reached 10 years and 
15 years of continuous service with the College were duly recognised. There was only one employee with 10 
years continuous service, while 24 employees were recognised for their 15 years of service. Additionally, the 
Colleges recognised and awarded employees who had completed long term academic programmes dur-
ing the year. In this area, three (3) were awarded for completing PhD Programmes, ten (10) Masters degrees, 
four (4) Bachelors degrees, eight (8) Diploma, and five (5) Certificates. The Board Chairperson commended 
the awardees for walking the talk of ODL. He urged all other staff members to emulate their achievements. 
The guests and staff were in the end treated to a sumptuous dinner in as a way of celebration. 

SOUTHERN AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT COMMUNITY CENTRE FOR DISTANCE EDUCATION (SADC - CDE)

The SADC-Centre for Distance Education report covers activities undertaken during the 2016/2017 period. 
It provides a summary of approved initiatives carried out by the SADC-CDE with the support of the Bo-
tswana College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL) and the Commonwealth of Learning (COL). The 
Centre falls under the technical supervision of the Senior Advisor, Open Schooling at COL and administra-
tively reports to BOCODOL Executive Director.  

The approved initiatives were requested by member states and are in line with the major functions of the 
Centre among them:  Capacity building in ODL, facilitation of collaboration between ODL institutions and 
Research in ODL in the region, promotion of advocacy for Distance Education, facilitation of sharing of 
resources i.e. materials, information and expertise, nurturing, and supporting delivery of quality Distance 
Education in the region. The report further updates COL on Regional (SADC) activities as well as the DEASA 
which continues to be serviced by the SADC-CDE. Additionally, the Centre has continued with its function 
of disseminating COL related information at a local level. 

Last but by no means least, it is worth to highlight that this report presents achievements in summary for 
the 2nd year of the Strategic Plan 2015—2018. The activities undertaken during the period are presented 
below;
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1. Capacity Building in ODL

The Centre has managed to service 9 out of 15 SADC member states consistently with regard capacity build-
ing initiatives. As at the end of June 2017, capacity building was extended to Madagascar, which brings to 10 
the countries being serviced. The Centre expects to bring two (2) more member states on board through the 
contacts that it has been cultivating.
It is worth highlighting that with regard the Master of Education in Open and
Distance Learning, (M.Ed. in ODL) programme, the Centre is looking into
sponsoring more practitioners from the SADC region.. 

2. SADC-CDE Website 

Another major achievement was the SADC-CDE website (www.sadc-cde.com).  This development was to en-
hance the SADC-CDE visibility as well as to facilitate sharing of information about the Centre. The website, 
which became operational in February 2017, is aligned to the three SADC communication languages namely; 
English, French and Portuguese.  

3. Collaboration, Networking and Partnership 

Pursuant to its mandate to build ODL capacity in the SADC region, the SADC-CDE exploits every opportunity 
to reach out to all member states for an equitable and transparent distribution of the services and support 
it offers. The Centre made contact with the Ministry of Education official for the Republic of Madagascar at-
tending the March 2017 OER Africa Regional meeting in Mauritius.  This has resulted in Madagascar joining 
the SADC active member states supported group. Implementation on other areas of support is expected for 
the 2017/18 financial year. 

4. Distance Education Association of Southern Africa (DEASA)

The Centre continued to support the DEASA as its secretariat and covering the 13 member states excluding 
Seychelles and Madagascar who are not yet members. Now that Madagascar is on board, it was hoped that 
she will join the DEASA.

The 2017 DEASA Conference and 51st Annual General Meeting (AGM) activities will be hosted by Zambia 
who has been the Chair of the Association since September 2015. 

In order to avert hosting challenges as those experienced in 2016 when no conference took place, the DEASA 
Executive Committee revised its hosting schedule and agreed on some binding principles.   

On a sad note, the DEASA lost two members during the course of the year who served the Executive Com-
mittee as well as being Country representatives for their respective countries during their membership time. 
These were Professor Primrose Kurasha of Zimbabwe Open University (ZOU), Zimbabwe who passed away 
in February 2017 and Mr Vincent Sechaba Seutloali, Director of Lesotho Distance Teaching Centre (LDTC), 
Lesotho in October 2016.
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5. DEASA Website

The website was revamped to ensure usability and relevance. In addition, a new domain name was registered 
as the old one had expired. The domain name is: www.deasa.org. The 2017 conference details are available in 
the website. A temporary site has also been created due to the instability of the main site. This was done to 
ensure that readers do not miss information about the conference. 
The link is: http://www.deasaconference2017.com.



1 8  |  B O C O D O L  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

Corporate Scorecard Dashboard 2016/17

Strategic Objective Performance Measure

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
M

ea
su

re Performance 2015/16

Baseline 2016/17 Achieved
Performance
Status

Improve Excellence

# of students completing 6 7810 8155 6005 73.6%

% of students completing (Tertiary) 3 783 872 1055 121%

% Quality pass (JC)
2

4% 5% 0.14% 2.8%

%Quality pass (BGCSE) 6% 8% 10.6% 133%

% Overall pass (JC)
2

64% 66% 64.4% 97.6%

% Overall pass (BGCSE) 89% 90% 91% 101%

Overall Performance (Business Perspective) 88.2%

Improve progression Progression Rate 4 93% 95% 79% 83.3%

Improve Customer Retention % Retention 4 68% 70% 93% 133%

Increase Student Enrolment
Volume (OS)

4
12864 10000 11763 118%

Volume (TER) 2500 2770 1466 52.9%

Improve Customer Satisfaction % CSI 4 87% 90% 65% 72%

Increase Technology Uptake % Technology users 4 96% 96% 80% 83.3%

Average Performance (Customer Perspective) 90.4%

Improve Quality Products & 
Services % Products revamped 7 64% 75% 78% 104%

Quality Assurance % on ODL provision index 4 78% 65% 65% 100%

Improve Customer 
Management

% Queries resolved on Time 3 90% 95% 98% 103%

%  Complaints resolved 4 100% 100% 100% 100%

Brand Perception Brand perception index 4 70% 80%

Diversify Programmes # of Programmes 4 39(22) 26 24 92%

Leverage Strategic 
Collaborations # SLA Compliance 5 50% 70% 80% 88%

Leverage Technology % of technology mediated programmes 5 16% 37% 29% 78%

Average Performance (Process Perspective) 92.7%

Improve Corporate 
Governance

Compliance with Corporate Governance 
Index 4 90% 93% 68% 73%

Improve Implementation 
Capacity % Compliance to Completion 8 80% 100% 80%

80%

Transform into HPO
Employee Engagement 4 63.6% 68% 60% 88%

% Leadership Index 4 91% 90% 97% 108%

Improve Change Management Compliance with Change Management 
Framework 10 50% 100% TBD

Improve Revenue Proportion of Non-Government Funding 10 30% 32% 35% 109%

Average Performance (Process Perspective) 91.6%

Gold: above 105%
(achievement above target)

Green: 105 - 85%
(achievement on target)

Amber: 84 - 65% (target not 
achieved but in progress)

Red: above 105%
(target not met)

The Corporate Scorecard Dashboard below gives a detailed indication of the performance of the institution 
in 2016/17, based on the achievement of the targets against actual figures of the Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) based on the four perspectives of the Balanced Scorecard model. 
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Business Results

The Business Results perspective comprises projects and activities in the College that promote growth in 
enrolment and student completion rate. While the College had several initiatives aimed at improving the 
quality of teaching so as to increase the completion rate, there was a significant decline in the number of 
learners completing in the planning year.  The number of students completing at Open Schooling stood at 
6005 against a target of 8155, which translates to an achievement of 73.3%. Overall, 31.17% of the registered 
JC and 29.81% BGCSE students did not write the examinations or some of the papers altogether. This is quite 
a significant proportion. This state of affairs could be attributed to the gross shortage of resources that saw 
the forfeiture of several support initiatives to give way to other corporate level pains. Be that as it may, more 
than 40 JC leavers were admitted for Form 4 in conventional schools in 2017. A total of 1055 tertiary learners 
graduated during the reporting period – surpassing a target of 872. The table below gives the throughput 
figures across the programmes from 2002.

Table 1: Summary of throughput by programme

Key        
JC:   Junior Certificate       
BGCSE:   Botswana General Certificate of Secondary Education   
CERT:  EPP: English for Professional Purposes     
  SSBM: Small Scale Business Management
  MSO: Microsoft Office Suite      
  CDEP: Certificate for Distance Education Practitioners   
  CDM: Certificate in Disaster Management     
  DIECD: Diploma in Integrated Early Childhood Development  
DIPLOMAS: DBM: Diploma in Business Management     
  DHRM: Diploma in Human Resources Management
DEGREE  BCOM (HRM & IR): Bachelor of Commerce (Human Rosources and Industrial Relations)
POST GRADUATE    

YEAR JC BGCSE CERT DIPLM DEGRE P/GRD C/E

2002 295 407 0 0 0 0 702

2003 533 935 0 0 0 0 1468

2004 374 1351 0 0 0 0 1725

2005 487 1586 376 0 0 0 2449

2006 501 2004 716 0 0 0 3221

2007 445 2139 768 0 0 0 3352

2008 731 2530 548 0 0 0 3809

2009 918 2451 192 90 0 0 3651

2010 897 2414 255 149 0 17 3732

2011 918 3120 334 295 0 9 4676

2012 0 3605 330 163 47 2 4147

2013 1223 4550 295 299 99 10 6476

2014 1686 6081 195 393 124 0 8479

2015 1590 6177 252 447 94 0 8560

2016 998 5007 189 510 164 3 6871

Total 11596 44357 4450 2346 528 41 63318
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Customer/Stakeholder Perspective

This involves coordination of College customer management and stakeholder engagement activities to en-
sure achievement of projected targets for student enrolment and progression; customer retention and sat-
isfaction and, technology uptake. In the reporting period, the College attained 79% progression against a 
target of 95%. The number of learners the College has retained stood at 93% against a target of 70%. The high 
rate of retention could be attributed to the high number of learners who were re-taking some of the Tertiary 
courses. The overall students enrolment stood at 13229 against a target of 12770 representing a little over 
100% achievement. While the enrolment at Open Schooling remained above the target, the numbers at Ter-
tiary declined tremendously. Several factors could have led to this decline – firstly; the College was piloting a 
fully-fledged online application and registration system. Furthermore, some of the selection processes may 
have left out potential students.  

The average performance for the customer perspective stood at 90.4% - indicating that, despite the scarcity of 
financial resources that befell the College, learners were committed to progressing with their various courses, 
hence high retention rates. This is in spite of the fact that the customer satisfaction rates were at all time low 
(65% against a target of 90%). However, some initiatives were carried out to improve the satisfaction levels 
of learners; for instance; to improve the quality of assessment in the School of Business and Management 
Studies, part-time tutors were taken through the use of Bloom’s Taxonomy in assignments and examinations 
setting. Furthermore, a project to revise and update JC materials was started and was due for completion in 
the next planning year. The College needs to do more to provide services to its customers with due diligence. 

YEAR JC BGCSE CERT DIPLM DEGRE P/GRD Total MSO S/CRS Total

2000 687 1394 0 0 0 0 2081 0 0 2081

2001 555 1225 0 0 0 0 1780 0 0 1780

2002 1093 2665 0 0 0 0 3758 0 0 3758

2003 1178 2994 0 0 0 0 4172 0 0 4172

2004 951 3687 524 0 0 0 5162 0 0 5162

2005 1467 3957 910 0 0 0 6334 0 0 6334

2006 832 3583 877 0 0 0 5292 144 0 5436

2007 1188 4919 687 538 0 0 7332 597 0 7929

2008 952 4169 242 540 0 0 5903 451 0 6354

2009 1060 4286 356 643 0 0 6345 377 0 6722

2010 1326 3836 420 912 187 20 6701 349 0 7050

2011 885 3658 323 1296 253 28 6443 147 0 6590

2012 687 4072 211 1086 748 21 6825 269 42 7136

2013 2890 8997 441 845 435 0 13608 162 120 13890

2014 3563 12287 391 2717 1013 120 20091 128 44 20263

2015 2699 10165 406 999 434 124 14827 76 156 15059

2016 2413 9350 313 1126 379 264 13845 118 83 14046

Total 24426 85244 6101 10702 3449 577 130499 2818 445 133762

Table 2: Enrolment statistics for 2016/17 as well as trends  from 2000
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To increase capacity for technology uptake, the following initiatives were undertaken:-

1. All Open School Staff (8) were trained on the Notesmaster platform and content development for JC 
and BGCSE which was ongoing at the time of writing this report.

2. All lecturers and tutors of the seven online programmes, namely, BEd (Primary), IECD, CDEP, PGCQA, 
MEdEL and CEMPA/BA, were trained on Moodle (a software package for producing internet-based 
courses). However, the Centre for Instructional Technology (CIT) was since requested to come up with 
a modularised e-learning programme and curriculum for academics. A proposal for this programme 
would be presented to Academic Board and the programme should be available from next calendar 
year, 2017/18.

3. Pursuant to the establishment of the BOCODOL online radio, three (3) part-time online radio present-
ers were trained, while initiatives were underway to train staff, especially lecturers on content develop-
ment for online radio presentation.

4. At the writing of this report, the commencement for updating Moodle 2.8 to Moodle 3.1 had already 
been effected. 

All these efforts, however, accounted for only 80% of technology uptake with respect to a target of 90%. 
This was largely due to delays in execution of services on time as a result of gross shortage of funds.

Process Perspective (Organizational effectiveness and efficiency) 

The process perspective involves creativities for the provision of institutional services to ensure organ-
isational effectiveness and efficiency through improved programme diversification, quality assurance 
processes, customer management, market positioning, and leveraging on strategic collaborations. For 
the reporting period, product revamping stood at 35% against a target of 40%. In resonance with these 
continuous efforts to diversify products and services, the ODL provision Index shows a 100% achievement 
with respect to the target for the year. These achievements testify of the continued efforts to improve the 
overall efficiency of the College’s systems and processes. To uphold the high standards of academic pur-
suits, the utilisation of Plag-Scan (on-line plagiarism checker) was gradually becoming widespread across 
tertiary programmes, thus all dissertations and revision of all JC materials were subject to Plag-Scan, in an 
attempt to weed out plagiarism.

Following the Regulatory Body (BQA) audit of BOCODOL, closure of identified nonconformities and follow-
up verification visits were achieved. Nonconformities for some regions were closed and verification visits 
undertaken, safe for sporadic gaps with regards to health and safety; especially refilling of fire extinguish-
ers, inspection report and falling ceiling panels. At the writing of this report, BQA was yet to schedule a 
proposed technical committee meeting that would help them appreciate ODL operations and how these 
might affect their approaches to future audits of ODL institutions.

The following four (4) tertiary programmes were proposed to be introduced during the academic year 
2017/18:-
a) Since all learning materials for the Postgraduate Diploma in Research and Evaluation (PGDRE) were 
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available, the programme was scheduled to be introduced by the School of Business and Management Stud-
ies in July 2017.

b) The newly established School of Science and Technology was preparing for the introduction of a 
Bachelor of Technology in Information Systems and an MBA in Construction Management to start in July 
2017. However, there have been delays in the acquisition of materials due to financial constraints. There was 
hope that priority would be given to acquisition of learning materials for new programmes; henceforth, a 
Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) for the purchase of learning materials from Wawasan Open University 
(WOU) was signed. In the School of Social Sciences plans were well advanced for introduction of a degree in 
Youth Development Work, in collaboration with COL. The proposal had already reached the Academic Board 
stage. 

The College continues to strive for increased access to programmes through improved technology usage. By 
the end of the planning year, the performance of technology mediated services stood at 25% out of a target 
of 37%. This was accounted for by several initiatives amongst are;

•	 The ITS Student Management module - which was fully functional with a number of online services 
availed to learners, including online payments, online application and registration.  The LMS, powered 
by Moodle also facilitates online assignment submission as well as collaboration through email and chat 
forums.  Significant progress was also achieved through the assessment module to automate all assess-
ment processes at tertiary level.

•	 The library platform for library instructions based on collaborative learning using Paddlets technology 
This was piloted with the first cohort of MEDEL learners in Maun Region.  HQ Library also experimented 
with the technology to sensitize users about Open Access during the celebration of World Open Access 
week. Though the response was weak, the library will further explore how to effectively use the tool for 
other special occasions.

•	 In the Maun Region, Smart Board Technology continues to be used for MEDEL Tutorials

The College survives mainly with the partnerships it has with its international collaborators on programme 
development and capacity building. For the planning year, the College had set out to review and develop 
Service Level Agreements with all its strategic partners – a project which attained only 70% of the targeted 
80%. Amongst some of the milestones that were set, the School of Social Sciences identified potential col-
laborating partners, including COL, (degree in Youth Development Work), UNISA (BA Public Administration 
and a Health Sciences degree), REPSSI (CBWCY) and IGNOU and VUSSC (MA in Rural Development and BSc 
Environmental Science, respectively). While discussions with COL had been concluded, other potential part-
ners were at different stages of exploration. Furthermore, a Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) was signed 
between BOCODOL and Wawasan Open University that would pave the way for acquisition of study materi-
als for several programmes identified by the newly established School of Science and Technology. The MoA 
would be built on the ongoing MoU between the two institutions.
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Resources & People Perspective

This perspective focuses on ensuring availability of resources to improve institutional capacity and leadership 
through compliance to corporate governance principles, prudent financial management and development 
of human resources. For the planning year, compliance to corporate governance index stood at 68% against 
a target of 90%. While the target appears too ambitious, it was observed that the instrument that was used 
to measure compliance was not exhaustive of all the underlying tenets of corporate governance. Efforts were 
underway to develop a more comprehensive instrument – with a wider coverage. The College was still await-
ing the promulgation of the Botswana Open University Act, thus the implementation capacity still remained at 
80% against a mark of 100%. Employee engagement index revealed a 60% achievement against a goal of 68%, 
however, a concern was raised here that that the whole concept of employee engagement ought to be clari-
fied for consistency. The change management framework had not yet been developed and plans were such 
that it would be deferred into the next planning year.  Several capacity building initiatives were undertaken 
during the reporting period include;

a) Balanced Scorecard training for new academic staff under the School of Science and Technology.
b) The Centre for Instructional Technology (CIT) organised a Notesmaster Boot camp for the Centre for  
 Open Schooling, which ran from the 7th to 18th November 2016. Staff were trained on the new fea 
 tures of the new interface, which would help them uploading onto the latest Notesmaster version.
c) The Centre for Teaching-Learning and Quality Assurance conducted an induction of new BOCODOL  
 staff on the BOCODOL quality assurance systems and processes. The training also provided skills on  
 the quality management and continuous quality improvement. 
d) Staff Wellness programme implementation with team-building events, staff sensitisation on life   
 insurance and banking products were successfully conducted in several centres of the College. 
e) Annual staff recognition ceremony was successfully hosted in December 2016

Following the instutionalisation of the Office of the Business Development at around the beginning of the 
planning year – with a mandate to develop a comprehensive structure for revenue generation; the non-gov-
ernment funding for the year surpassed the target of 32% to reach 35%. This is despite the fact that the College 
enrolled an all-time low number of tertiary learners that year. Plans were underway to provide capital to attend 
to maintenance issues at Maun and Gaborone regions in order to fully utilise the facilities and beef up revenue 
streams. 
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Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning vis-
ited four local councils during the reporting period. 
The College Corporate Relations and Marketing Direc-
tor, Mr. Bonny Bashe and the Business Development 
Manager Mr. Monamodi Kgopana visited the following 
councils to address the honourable councillors about 
the BOCODOL offerings. The councils visited were 
South East District, City of Francistown, North West 
District and the Central District. The duo in addressing 
Councils stressed the importance of taking advantage 
of Open and Distance Learning (ODL) methodologies 
as the best alternative mode given the high costs of 

the conventional mode. The Councillors in all the lo-
cal authorities addressed were further encouraged 
to motivate their constituents to make hay while the 
sun shines. The Councillors appreciated the affordable 
fees that BOCODOL was charging and commended 
BOCODOL for her contribution in the development of 
education in the country. They hoped that BOCODOL 
would have more study centres in smaller villages but 
were informed of factors that are normally considered 
in establishing such centres and the cost implications 
that it would have. 

Bocodol takes its services and products to the local administrators

North West District Councillors listening to the BOCODOL Presentation

BOCODOL Highlights
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BOCODOL Highlights

Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning is a regular participant at the popular Business Botswana 
and Consumer Fairs in Francistown and Gaborone respectively. Through these Fairs the College has been able 
to reach multitudes of Batswana who went on to benefit from the BOCODOL programmes and are today much 
better qualified than they were before their encounter with BOCODOL at these Fairs. 

Bocodol at the fairs

BOCODOL at the Consumer Fair Gaborone 
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Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning 
(BOCODOL) prides itself with excellence in education 
celebrated the commitment and achievements of 
its staff which contributes to the institution’s status 
among educational entities in the country. The Col-
lege hosted a ceremony in which staff that had com-
pleted their long term as well as short studies were 
honoured.  The College also recognised staff mem-
bers that had served the institution for ten years and 
fifteen years. The long service awardees were com-
mended for their commitment to the institution as 
this was a rare occurrence in today’s world as em-
ployees hop from one place to another in search of 
greener pastures.

The highlight of the ceremony was the recognition of 
staff members that had attained doctorate degrees 
while in the employ of BOCODOL. These were Dr. 

Joseph Agolla - PhD Business Management, Dr. Le-
kopanye Tladi – PhD Educational Technology and Dr 
Mmabaledi Seeletso – PhD Curriculum and Instruc-
tional  Design & Development.

The Board Chairperson who was the Guest speaker 
at this ceremony and also the Botswana Qualifica-
tions Authority Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Abel Mo-
dungwa commended BOCODOL staff for being both 
effective at work and in their studies, saying that this 
was what the whole nation needed to benchmark 
on. Mr Modungwa said that BOCODOL was what it 
was because of the commitment and quality of its 
employees. He said these employees and all that had 
completed their studies using the ODL mode were 
true ambassadors of Open and Distance Learning as 
well as life-long learning.

BOCODOL Highlights

Staff Recognition and Awards
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Board of Governors’ Responsibilities and Approval

Annual Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 March 2017

The Board of Governors of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning are required in terms of the Botswana College of 
Distance and Open Learning Act, 1998 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity 
of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that 
the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the College as at the end of the financial year and the results 
of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 
external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Board of Governors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the College and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Board of Gover-
nors to meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the College and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the College’s busi-
ness is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the College 
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the College. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the College endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board of Governors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual 
financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board of Governors have reviewed the College’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2017 and, in the light of this review 
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the College has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the College’s annual financial statements. The 
annual financial statements have been examined by the College’s external auditors and their report is presented on pages 32 to 
33.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 6 to 30, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the board of directors on                                 and were signed on its behalf by:

       

Board Chairperson        Executive Director
Gaborone         Gaborone

_________________________ _________________________

19 Sept.2017_____________
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning set out
on pages 36 to 63, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March, 2017, and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the annual financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of, the financial position of Botswana College of
Distance and Open Learning as at 31 March, 2017, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the annual financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the College in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B) (IESBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to
performing audits of annual financial statements in Botswana. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in Botswana. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Botswana Accountancy Oversight Authority registration number: FAP 005 2016 (Audit Firm of Public Interest Entity) 
Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants membership number: MeFBW11013 (Audit and Non-Audit)

www.grantthornton.co.bw
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the annual 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and the report below is not intended to constitute separate opinions on 
those key audit matters.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Government subventions

The College is supported by Government Subventions for
their operational and capital expenditure. These amounts
are granted by the government based on the budgets
submitted after appropriate rationalisation. Government
subventions are recognised in line with requirements of
IAS 20.

For the period ended 31 March 2017, Government
subventions amounted to P69.7 million.
Due to the significant of the amounts involved, this
matter is considered key for audit.

We obtained schedules of all government subventions, 
agreed the information to the accounting records and also 
obtained confirmations from the respective ministries in the 
government.

We have also determined compliance to the requirements of 
IAS20 for recognition and measurement of the government
subventions. 

We have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence

Operating Expenses and payroll expenditure

The College is supported by government subventions for
its operating expenditure including payroll costs. Due to
the high volume of transactions, amounts involved and the
susceptibility to incurring expenses that may have not been
carried out as per the procurement procedures or
expenditure incurred not for the purpose of normal
operating activities of the entity, these cycles are
considered significant.

Payroll costs forms a very large portion of College’s
expenses (more than 50%). For the year ended March
2017, administrative and payroll costs exceeded P100
million. Due to the economic significance of these costs
to the College, the area is considered as a Key Audit
Matter

Our audit procedures included testing the appropriateness 
of the application of the procurement procedures and verify-
ing expenditure to supporting documents.

We also obtained an understanding of and tested the rel-
evant controls in place to evaluate the procurement proce-
dures put in place by management.

We verified the existence of employees by performing proce-
dures such as verification of appropriate identity documents,
examination of employee files, contracts and other terms of
employment. We also verified if the payroll information was
updated with information from the employee files.

We have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
to conclude that the costs of operating expenses and payroll 
have not been misstated.
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Student fees revenue

The college collected fees in excess of P 24 million
during the year. Due to the significance of the amounts
involved, the process and controls surrounding the fee
collections, we have identified this matter as key.

We have gained an understanding of the process and con-
trols surrounding revenue (student fees) and evaluated them 
for design effectiveness.

We also evaluated the revenue recognition policies for
appropriateness with the applicable financial reporting 
framework.

Determined whether the criteria was consistently applied 
with the prior period and throughout the period by selecting 
a few documents and assessing if revenue was appropriately 
recognised

Fixed assets of the organisation – Investment
properties property, plant and equipment

The college holds investment property and property
plant and equipment with carrying value of P11million
and P110 million respectively. Due to the significance of
the amounts involved, the process and controls
surrounding recognition, classification and measurement,
we have identified this matter as key.

We verified the existence of fixed assets by performing pro-
cedures such as physical verification of sampled assets and 
verification of title documents.

We verified that additions and disposals were appropriately
accounted for.

We also obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
to conclude that depreciation was appropriately computed 
and carrying amounts were reasonable and that they have 
not been misstated.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Responsibilities of the directors for the Annual Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial Statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the College’s ability to continue as a go-
ing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the College’s financial reporting process.



3 4  |  B O C O D O L  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a whole are free from mate-
rialmis statement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Audit-
ing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and relateddis-
closures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the College’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independ-
ence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Reporting on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning Act 1998 we report to you , based on our audit, that:

•	 We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for 
the purposes of our audit;

•	 In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the College, so far as appears from our examination of those 
books; and

•	 The College’s statement of financial position and the statement of Comprehensive Income are in agreement with the books 
of account.

 
__________________________________________   __________________________
Chartered Accountants        Gaborone

Certified Auditor: Mr. Madhavan Venkatachary (Memb No:20030049)
Certified Auditor of Public Interest Entity
Certificate Number: CAP 0017 2017

22 SEPT 2017
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2017

     Figures in Pula                                               Note               2017      2016          Figures in Pula                          Note    2017          2016
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017 
Figures in Pula Note 2017 2016 

 

 
 

 

Non‐Current Assets 

 

Investment property 3 11 168 607 11 431 308 
Property, plant and equipment 4 110 347 781 113 188 932 

  121 516 388 124 620 240 
 
Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 

 
 

5 

 
 

10 324 631 

 
 

6 209 858 
Cash and cash equivalents 6 553 292 419 517 

  10 877 923 6 629 375 

Total Assets  132 394 311 131 249 615 
 
Equity and Liabilities 

   

Equity 
Accumulated deficit 

  
(22 548 981) 

 
(15 391 545) 

 
Liabilities 

   

Non‐Current Liabilities 
Retention payable 

  
144 979 

 
144 979 

Capital grants 7 121 060 603 122 341 588 

  121 205 582 122 486 567 
 
Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

 
 

8 

 
 

27 922 997 

 
 

18 347 660 
Deferred revenue 9 5 814 713 5 806 933 

  33 737 710 24 154 593 

Total Liabilities  154 943 292 146 641 160 

Total Equity and Liabilities  132 394 311 131 249 615 
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     Figures in Pula                                               Note               2017      2016

Statement of Comprehensive Income

         Figures in Pula                          Note    2017          2016

for the year ended 31 March 2017
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 
Figures in Pula Note 2017 2016 

 

 
Revenue 

 
10 

 
24 075 008 

 
19 707 279 

Other income 11 76 138 776 80 736 849 
Employee expenses  (71 025 995) (57 735 570) 
Tutor and writer expenses  (4 684 542) (5 852 413) 
Operating expenses  (31 693 081) (40 484 167) 

Operating (deficit)/surplus 12 (7 189 834) (3 628 022) 
Finance income 13 32 804 ‐ 

(Deficit)/surplus before taxation 
Taxation 

 
15 

(7 157 436) 
‐ 

(3 686 593) 
‐ 

(Deficit)/surplus for the year  (7 157 436) (3 686 593) 

Other comprehensive income  ‐ ‐ 

Total comprehensive (deficit)/surplus for the year  (7 157 436) (3 686 593) 

Botswana	College	of	Distance	and	Open	Learning	
Annual	Financial	Statements	for	the	year	ended	31	March	2017	

10	

	

	

 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 
Figures in Pula Note 2017 2016 
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Taxation 
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(3 686 593) 
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Other comprehensive income  ‐ ‐ 

Total comprehensive (deficit)/surplus for the year  (7 157 436) (3 686 593) 
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Balance at 01 April 2015
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 01 April 2016
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Balance at 31 March 2017

        Figures in Pula                                 Accumulated loss  Total Equity

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2017

       (11 704 952)                     (11 704 952) 
                      (3 686 593)            (3 686 593)
  ‐            ‐ 
  
        (3 686 593)           (3 686 593) 

      (15 391 545)                     (15 391 545) 
        (7 157 436)                       (7 157 436) 
   ‐             ‐

        (7 157 436)          (7 157 436)  
      (22 548 981)                    (22 548 981)

            Figures in Pula                                 Note                2017               2016
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        Figures in Pula                                 Accumulated loss  Total Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

            Figures in Pula                                 Note                2017               2016

for the year ended 31 March 2017
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2017 
 

Figures in Pula Note 2017 2016 
 

 
Cash flows from operating activities 

   

 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 
 

16 
 

(1 729 269) 
 

(167 169) 
Finance income  32 804 ‐ 
Finance costs  (406) (58 571) 

Net cash from operating activities  (1 696 871) (225 740) 

 
Cash flows from investing activities 

   

 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
 

4 
 

(1 832 161) 
 

(4 761 099) 
Movement in retention  ‐ 43 590 

Net cash from investing activities  (1 832 161) (4 717 509) 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

   

 

Movement in project and capital grants 
 

17 
 

3 662 807 
 

17 835 

 
Total cash movement for the year 

  
133 775 

 
(4 925 414) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  419 517 5 344 931 

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6 553 292 419 517 
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1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these annual financial statements are 
set out below.

1.1    Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis in accordance with, and 
in compliance with, International Financial Report-
ing Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Re-
porting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpre-
tations issued and effective at the time of preparing 
these annual financial statements and the Botswana 
College of Distance and Open Learning Act,1998.

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise 
stated in the accounting policies which follow and 
incorporate the principal accounting policies set out 
below. They are presented in Pulas, which is the col-
lege’s functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period.

1.2    Significant judgements and sources of estima-
tion uncertainty

The preparation of annual financial statements in 
conformity with IFRS requires management, from 
time to time, to make judgements, estimates and as-
sumptions that affect the application of policies and 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. These estimates and associated assump-
tions are based on experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. The estimates and underlying assump-
tions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in any future pe-
riods affected.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Trade receivables

The college assesses its trade receivables for impair-
ment at the end of each reporting period. In de-
termining whether an impairment loss should be 
recorded in profit or loss, the college makes judge-
ments as to whether there is observable data indi-
cating a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from the financial asset.

The impairment (or loss allowance) for trade receiv-
ables is calculated on a portfolio basis, except for 
individually significant trade receivables which are 
assessed separately. The impairment test on the 
portfolio is based on historical loss ratios, adjusted 
for national and industry‐specific economic condi-
tions and other indicators present at the reporting 
date that correlate with defaults on
the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied to 
loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the esti-
mated loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of 
trade receivable and trade payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of finan-
cial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 

Accounting Policies
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current market interest rate that is available to the col-
lege for similar financial instruments.

Impairment testing

The college reviews and tests the carrying value of 
assets when events or changes in circumstances sug-
gest that the carrying amount may not be recover-
able. When such indicators exist, management deter-
mine the recoverable amount by performing value in 
use and fair value calculations. These calculations re-
quire the use of estimates and assumptions. When it is 
not possible to determine the recoverable amount for 
an individual asset, management assesses the recov-
erable amount for the cash generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management assess the appropriateness of the use-
ful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end 
of each reporting period. The useful lives of motor 
vehicles, furniture and computer equipment are de-
termined based on company replacement policies 
for the various assets. Individual assets within these 
classes, which have a significant carrying amount are 
assessed separately to consider whether replacement 
will be necessary outside of normal replacement pa-
rameters.

1.2    Significant judgements and sources of estima-
tion uncertainty (continued) Provisions

Provisions are inherently based on assumptions and 
estimates using the best information available.

Contingent liabilities

Management applies its judgement to facts and ad-
vice it receives from its attorneys, advocates and other 
advisors is assessing if an obligation is probable, more 
likely than not, or remote. This judgement application 
is used to determine if the obligation is recognised as 
a liability or disclosed as a contingent liability.

1.3    Investment property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, 
and only when, it is probable that the future econom-
ic benefits that are associated with the investment 
property will flow to the enterprise, and the cost of 
the investment property can be measured reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. 
Transaction costs are included in the initial measure-
ment.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or ser-
vice a property. If a replacement part is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the investment property, the 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Cost model

Investment property is carried at cost less deprecia-
tion less any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write down the cost, less 
estimated residual value  over the useful life of the 
property, which is as follows:

 Item   Useful life 
 Freehold land  indefinite 
 Buildings  50 years

Accounting Policies
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1.4    Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets 
which the college holds for its own use or for rental 
to others and which are expected to be used for more 
than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recog-
nised as an asset when it is probable that future eco-
nomic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the company, and the cost of the item can be mea-
sured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is 
directly attributable to the acquisition or construction 
of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing 
costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect 
of hedge accounting, where appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated im-
pairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on 
the straight line basis over their expected useful lives 
to their estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equip-
ment have been assessed as follows:

Item  Depreciation method  Average useful life
Buildings     Straight line        50 years
Furniture and      Straight line          5 years
fixtures 
Motor vehicles     Straight line         4 years
Furnishers and office     Straight line         5 years
equipment 
IT equipment     Straight line        4 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation meth-
od of each asset are reviewed at the end of each re-
porting year. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively 
as a change in accounting estimate

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised 
in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecog-
nised upon disposal or when no future economic ben-
efits are expected from its continued use or disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, determined 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, 
if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is includ-
ed in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

1.5    Financial instruments
Classification

The college classifies financial assets and financial li-
abilities into the following categories:
•	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

‐ held for trading
•	 Loans and receivables
•	 Available‐for‐sale financial assets

Classification depends on the purpose for which 
the financial instruments were obtained / incurred 
and takes place at initial recognition. Classification 
is re‐assessed on an annual basis, except for deriva-
tives and financial assets designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss, which shall not be classified 
out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when 
the College becomes a party to the contractual provi-

Accounting Policies
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sions of the instruments.
The College classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual ar-
rangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair 
value, except for equity investments for which a fair 
value is not determinable, which are measured at cost 
and are classified as available‐for‐sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs are included 
in the initial measurement of the instrument.

Regular way purchases of financial assets are account-
ed for at trade date.

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value be-
ing included in profit or loss for the period.
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part 
of other income when the company’s right to receive 
payment is established. Loans and receivables are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method, less accumulated
impairment losses.

Available‐for‐sale financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value. This excludes equity invest-
ments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost less accumulated impair-
ment losses.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity until the asset is disposed of 
or determined to be impaired. Interest on available‐
for‐sale financial assets calculated using the effective 
interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part 
of other income. Dividends received on available‐for‐
sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
as part of other income when the company’s right to 
receive payment is established.

Changes in fair value of available‐for‐sale financial 
assets denominated in a foreign currency are anal-
ysed between translation differences resulting from 
changes in amortised cost and other changes in the 
carrying amount. Translation differences on monetary 
items are recognised in profit or loss, while translation 
differences on non‐monetary items are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in eq-
uity.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective inter-
est method.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the investments have expired 
or have been transferred and the College has trans-
ferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
 
Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the College assesses all fi-
nancial assets, other than those at fair value through 
profit or loss, to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial as-
sets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the College, significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 

Accounting Policies
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will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all 
considered indicators of impairment.

In the case of equity securities classified as available‐
for‐sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of the security below its cost is considered an 
indicator of impairment. If any such evidence exists 
for available‐for‐sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss
‐ measured as the difference between the acquisition 
cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that financial asset previously recognised in profit 
or loss ‐ is removed from equity as a reclassification 
adjustment to other comprehensive income and rec-
ognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in 
the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be re-
lated objectively to an event occurring after the im-
pairment was recognised, subject to the restriction 
that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the 
date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed 
what the carrying amount would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss except for equity investments classified 
as available‐for‐sale.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of 
an allowance account, the amount of the loss is rec-
ognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. 
When such assets are written off, the write off is 
made against the relevant allowance account. Sub-
sequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition 
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at am-
ortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Sig-
nificant financial difficulties of the debtor, probabil-
ity that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in pay-
ments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered 
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the pres-
ent value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the effective interest rate computed at initial rec-
ognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operat-
ing expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollect-
able, it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses in profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans 
and receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits, and other short‐term highly 

Accounting Policies
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liquid investments that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and are subject to an insignif-
icant risk of changes in value. These are initially and 
subsequently recorded at fair value.

Bank overdraft and borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially mea-
sured at fair value, and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method. Any difference between the proceeds (net 
of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemp-
tion of borrowings is recognised over the term of 
the borrowings in accordance with the College’s ac-
counting policy for borrowing costs.

1.6    Tax

Tax expenses

No provision for taxation is made as the college is ex-
empt from income tax under the second schedule of 
Income Tax Act.

1.7    Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease 
if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and re-
wards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases ‐ lessor

Operating lease income is recognised as an income 
on a straight‐line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and ar-
ranging operating leases are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an ex-
pense over the lease term on the same basis as the 

lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit 
or loss.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an ex-
pense on a straight‐line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as 
an expense and the contractual payments are recog-
nised as an operating lease asset. This liability is not 
discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they 
are incurred.

1.8    Impairment of assets

The College assesses at each end of the reporting pe-
riod whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the College 
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of im-
pairment, the College also:
•	 tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful 

life or intangible assets not yet available for use 
for impairment annually by comparing its car-
rying amount with its recoverable amount. This 
impairment test is performed during the annual 
period and at the same time every period.

•	 tests goodwill acquired in a business combina-
tion for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be im-
paired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the 
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the re-
coverable amount of the individual asset, the recov-
erable amount of the cash‐generating unit to which 

Accounting Policies
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Accounting Policies

the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash‐gen-
erating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is 
an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recog-
nised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment 
loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation de-
crease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an impairment loss rec-
ognised in prior periods for assets other than good-
will may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts 
of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than 
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment 
loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation 
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of 
a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9    Employee benefits

Short‐term employee benefits
The cost of short‐term employee benefits, (those pay-
able within 12 months after the service is rendered, 

such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, 
and non‐monetary benefits such as medical care), 
are recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is rec-
ognised as an expense as the employees render ser-
vices that increase their entitlement or, in the case of 
non‐accumulating absences, when the absence oc-
curs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus pay-
ments is recognised as an expense when there is a 
legal or constructive obligation to make such pay-
ments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry‐managed (or state plans) 
retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 
contribution plans where the College’s obligation 
under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a 
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.10    Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is rea-
sonable assurance that:
•	 the College will comply with the conditions at-

taching to them; and
•	 the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over 
the periods necessary to match them with the relat-
ed costs that they are intended to compensate.

A government grant that becomes receivable as 
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compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial sup-
port to the entity with no future related costs is rec-
ognised as income of the period in which it becomes 
receivable.

Government grants related to assets, including non‐
monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the 
statement of financial position by setting up the grant 
as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriv-
ing at the carrying amount of the asset.

Grants related to income are deducted from the re-
lated expense.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied 
first against any un‐amortised deferred credit set up 
in respect of the grant. To the extent that the repay-
ment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no 
deferred credit exists, the repayment is recognised 
immediately as an expense.

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded 
by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or re-
ducing the deferred income balance by the amount 
repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation 
that would have been recognised to date as an ex-
pense in the absence of the grant is recognised im-
mediately as an expense.

1.11 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the college 
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Revenue comprises of student and tuition fees and is 
recognised over the period of the courses. Interest is 
recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective inter-
est rate method.

Rental income on leases is recognised on a straight 
line basis over the lease term.

2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1    Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The college has chosen not to early adopt the follow-
ing standards and interpretations, which have been 
published and are mandatory for the college’s ac-
counting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2017 
or later periods:

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 
17 Leases, and introduces a single lessee accounting 
model. The main changes arising from the issue of 
IFRS 16 which are likely to impact the college are as 
follows:

College as lessee:
•	 Lessees are required to recognise a right‐of‐use as-

set and a lease liability for all leases, except short 
term leases or leases where the underlying asset 
has a low value, which are expensed on a straight 
line or other systematic basis.

•	 The cost of the right‐of‐use asset includes, where 
appropriate, the initial amount of the lease liabili-
ty; lease payments made prior to commencement 
of the lease less incentives received; initial direct 
costs of the lessee; and an estimate for any provi-
sion for dismantling, restoration and removal re-
lated to the underlying asset.

•	 The lease liability takes into consideration, where 
appropriate, fixed and variable lease payments; 
residual value guarantees to be made by the les-
see; exercise price of purchase options; and pay-
ments of penalties for terminating the lease.

Accounting Policies
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•	 The right‐of‐use asset is subsequently measured 
on the cost model at cost less accumulated de-
preciation and impairment and adjusted for any 
re‐measurement of the lease liability. However, 
right‐of‐use assets are measured at fair value 
when they meet the definition of investment 
property and all other investment property is ac-
counted for on the fair value model. If a right‐of‐
use asset relates to a class of property, plant and 
equipment which is measured on the revaluation 
model, then that right‐of‐use asset may be meas-
ured on the revaluation model.

•	 The lease liability is subsequently increased by in-
terest, reduced by lease payments and re‐meas-
ured for reassessments or modifications.

•	 Re‐measurements of lease liabilities are affected 
against right‐of‐use assets, unless the assets have 
been reduced to nil, in which case further adjust-
ments are recognised in profit or loss.

•	 The lease liability is re‐measured by discounting 
revised payments at a revised rate when there is 
a change in the lease term or a change in the as-
sessment of an option to purchase the underly-
ing asset.

•	 The lease liability is re‐measured by discounting 
revised lease payments at the original discount 
rate when there is a change in the amounts ex-
pected to be paid in a residual value guarantee 
or when there is a change in future payments be-
cause of a change in index or rate used to deter-
mine those payments.

•	 Certain lease modifications are accounted for as 
separate leases. When lease modifications which 
decrease the scope of the lease are not required 
to be accounted for as separate leases, then the 
lessee re‐measures the lease liability by decreas-
ing the carrying amount of the right of lease as-

set to reflect the full or partial termination of the 
lease. Any gain or loss relating to the full or partial 
termination of the lease is recognised in profit or 
loss. For all other lease modifications which are 
not required to be accounted for as separate leas-
es, the lessee re‐measures the lease liability by 
making a corresponding adjustment to the right‐
of‐use asset.

•	 Right‐of‐use assets and lease liabilities should 
be presented separately from other assets and li-
abilities. If not, then the line item in which they 
are included must be disclosed. This does not ap-
ply to right‐of‐use assets meeting the definition 
of investment property which must be presented 
within investment property. IFRS 16 contains dif-
ferent disclosure requirements compared to IAS 
17 leases.

College as lessor:
•	 Accounting for leases by lessors remains similar 

to the provisions of IAS 17 in that leases are clas-
sified as either finance leases or operating leases. 
Lease classification is reassessed only if there has 
been a modification.

•	 A modification is required to be accounted for as 
a separate lease if it both increases the scope of 
the lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and the increase in considera-
tion is commensurate to the stand alone price of 
the increase in scope.

•	 If a finance lease is modified, and the modifica-
tion would not qualify as a separate lease, but the 
lease would have been an operating lease if the 
modification was in effect from inception, then 
the modification is accounted for as a separate 
lease. In addition, the carrying amount of the 
underlying asset shall be measured as the net 
investment in the lease immediately before the 
effective date of the modification. IFRS 9 is ap-
plied to all other modifications not required to be 
treated as a separate lease.

Accounting Policies
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•	 Modifications to operating leases are required to 
be accounted for as new leases from the effective 
date of the modification. Changes have also been 
made to the disclosure requirements of leases in 
the lessor’s financial statements.

Sale and leaseback transactions:

•	 In the event of a sale and leaseback transaction, 
the requirements of IFRS 15 are applied to consid-
er whether a performance obligation is satisfied to 
determine whether the transfer of the asset is ac-
counted for as the sale of an asset.

•	 If the transfer meets the requirements to be rec-
ognised as a sale, the seller‐lessee must measure 
the new right‐of‐use asset at the proportion of the 
previous carrying amount of the asset that relates 
to the right‐of‐use retained. The buyer‐lessor ac-
counts for the purchase by applying applicable 
standards and for the lease by applying IFRS 16.

•	 If the fair value of consideration for the sale is not 
equal to the fair value of the asset, then IFRS 16 
requires adjustments to be made to the sale pro-
ceeds. When the transfer of the asset is not a sale, 
then the seller‐lessee continues to recognise the 
transferred asset and recognises a financial liabili-
ty equal to the transfer proceeds. The buyer‐lessor 
recognises a financial asset equal to the transfer 
proceeds.

The effective date of the standard is for years begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2019.

The college expects to adopt the standard for the first 
time in the 2020 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material im-
pact on the college’s annual financial statements.

IFRS 9 Finacial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new re-
quirements for the classification and measurements 
of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended 
in October 2010 to include requirements for the clas-
sification and measurement of financial liabilities and 
for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include 
the new requirements for general hedge accounting. 
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 
2014 mainly to include a)impairment requirements 
for financial assets and b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement 
requirements by introducing a “fair value through 
other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI) measurement 
category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

•	 All recognised financial assets that are within the 
scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recogni-
tion and Measurement are required to be subse-
quently measured at amortised cost or fair value. 
Specifically, debt investments that are held within 
a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the outstanding principal are gen-
erally measured at amortised cost at the end of 
subsequent reporting periods. Debt instruments 
that are held within a business model whose ob-
jective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that 
have contractual terms of the financial asset give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on outstanding 
principal, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt 
and equity investments are measured at fair value 
at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In ad-

Accounting Policies
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dition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevo-
cable election to present subsequent changes in 
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not 
held for trading) in other comprehensive income 
with only dividend income generally recognised 
in profit or loss.

•	 With regard to the measurement of financial li-
abilities designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of 
change in the fair value of the financial liability 
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk 
of the liability is presented in other comprehen-
sive income, unless the recognition of the effect 
of the changes of the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge 
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Under 
IAS39, the entire amount of the change in fair 
value of a financial liability designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss is presented in profit 
or loss.

•	 In relation to the impairment of financial assets, 
IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as 
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under 
IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires 
an entity to account for expected credit losses 
and changes in those expected credit losses at 
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit 
risk since initial recognition. It is therefore no 
longer necessary for a credit event to have oc-
curred before credit losses are recognised.

•	 The new general hedge accounting require-
ments retain the three types of hedge accounting 
mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under 
IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to 
the types of transactions eligible for hedge ac-
counting, specifically broadening the types of 
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments 

and the types of risk components of non‐financial 
items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In 
addition, the effectiveness test has been replaced 
with the principal of an “economic relationship”. 
Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness 
is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure 
requirements about an entity’s risk management 
activities have also been introduced.

The effective date of the standard is for years begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2018.

The College expects to adopt the standard for the 
first time in the 2019 annual financial statements. The 
impact of this standard is currently being assessed. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 
18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; 
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of Real Es-
tate; IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and 
SIC 31 Revenue ‐ Barter Transactions Involving Ad-
vertising Services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity rec-
ognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that re-
flects the consideration to which the entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or servic-
es. An entity recognises revenue in accordance with 
that core principle by applying the following steps:

•	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer
•	 Identify the performance obligations in the 
       contract
•	 Determine the transaction price
•	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract

Accounting Policies
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•	 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies 
a performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure re-
quirements.

The effective date of the standard is for years begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2018.

The College expects to adopt the standard for the first 
time in the 2019 annual financial statements. The im-
pact of this standard is currently being assessed.
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3. Investment property 

 
2017 2016 

Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value 

Investment property 13 143 255 (1 974 648) 11 168 607 13 143 255 (1 711 947) 11 431 308 
 

Reconciliation of investment property ‐ 2017 
 

Opening 
balance 

Depreciation Total 

Investment property 11 431 308 (262 701) 11 168 607 
 

Reconciliation of investment property ‐ 2016 
 

Opening 
balance 

Depreciation Total 

Investment property 11 694 595 (263 287) 11 431 308 

 
Fair value of investment properties 13 200 000 13 200 000 

 
4. Property, plant and equipment 

 
2017 2016 

Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value 

 

Buildings 121 767 816 (17 761 132) 104 006 684 121 767 816 (15 336 740) 106 431 076 
Furniture and fixtures 5 176 530 (1 977 485) 3 199 045 2 554 178 (1 741 444) 812 734 
Motor vehicles 5 228 670 (4 383 211) 845 459 5 228 670 (3 856 980) 1 371 690 
Office equipment 14 839 783 (13 452 089) 1 387 694 14 320 711 (12 612 498) 1 708 213 
IT equipment 8 083 126 (7 174 227) 908 899 7 569 550 (6 527 171) 1 042 379 
Work in progress ‐ ‐ ‐ 1 822 840 ‐ 1 822 840 

Total 155 095 925 (44 748 144) 110 347 781 153 263 765 (40 074 833) 113 188 932 
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4. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment ‐ 2017 

 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Transfers Depreciation Total 

Buildings 106 431 076 ‐ ‐ (2 424 392) 104 006 684 
Furniture and fixtures 812 734 799 512 1 822 840 (236 041) 3 199 045 
Motor vehicles 1 371 690 ‐ ‐ (526 231) 845 459 
Office equipment 1 708 213 519 072 ‐ (839 591) 1 387 694 
IT equipment 1 042 379 513 577 ‐ (647 057) 908 899 
Work in progress 1 822 840 ‐ (1 822 840) ‐ ‐ 

113 188 932 1 832 161 ‐ (4 673 312)   110 347 781 
 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment ‐ 2016 
 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Depreciation Total 

Buildings 109 053 546 ‐ (2 622 470) 106 431 076 
Furniture and fixtures 979 097 313 244 (479 607) 812 734 
Motor vehicles 1 131 035 814 792 (574 137) 1 371 690 
Office equipment 2 612 930 915 523 (1 820 240) 1 708 213 
IT equipment 1 586 992 894 700 (1 439 313) 1 042 379 
Work in progress ‐ 1 822 840 ‐ 1 822 840 

115 363 600 4 761 099 (6 935 767)     113 188 932 
 

5. Trade and other receivables 
 

Student debtors 2 219 867 1 786 879 
Prepayments 95 555 38 664 
Deposits 72 319 67 620 
Value added tax 99                   99 
Receivables from Government 7 002 892 3 863 763 
Staff related receivables 49 073 67 604 
Other receivable 884 826 385 229 

 10 324 631 6 209 858 
 

Fair value of trade and other receivables 
 

Trade and other receivables 10 324 631 6 209 858 
 

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired 
 

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2017, P 2 234 404 
(2016: P 1 786 879) were past due but not impaired. 

 
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows: 

   3 months past due 2 234 404 1 786 879 
 

Trade and other receivables impaired 
 

As of 31 March 2017, trade and other receivables of P 351 226 (2016: P 351 226) were impaired and provided for. The 
amount of the provision was P (351 226) as of 31 March 2017 (2016: P (351 226). 
The ageing of these loans is as follows: 

 
Over 6 months 351 226 351 226 
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4. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment ‐ 2017 

 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Transfers Depreciation Total 

Buildings 106 431 076 ‐ ‐ (2 424 392) 104 006 684 
Furniture and fixtures 812 734 799 512 1 822 840 (236 041) 3 199 045 
Motor vehicles 1 371 690 ‐ ‐ (526 231) 845 459 
Office equipment 1 708 213 519 072 ‐ (839 591) 1 387 694 
IT equipment 1 042 379 513 577 ‐ (647 057) 908 899 
Work in progress 1 822 840 ‐ (1 822 840) ‐ ‐ 

113 188 932 1 832 161 ‐ (4 673 312)   110 347 781 
 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment ‐ 2016 
 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Depreciation Total 

Buildings 109 053 546 ‐ (2 622 470) 106 431 076 
Furniture and fixtures 979 097 313 244 (479 607) 812 734 
Motor vehicles 1 131 035 814 792 (574 137) 1 371 690 
Office equipment 2 612 930 915 523 (1 820 240) 1 708 213 
IT equipment 1 586 992 894 700 (1 439 313) 1 042 379 
Work in progress ‐ 1 822 840 ‐ 1 822 840 

115 363 600 4 761 099 (6 935 767)     113 188 932 
 

5. Trade and other receivables 
 

Student debtors 2 219 867 1 786 879 
Prepayments 95 555 38 664 
Deposits 72 319 67 620 
Value added tax 99                   99 
Receivables from Government 7 002 892 3 863 763 
Staff related receivables 49 073 67 604 
Other receivable 884 826 385 229 

 10 324 631 6 209 858 
 

Fair value of trade and other receivables 
 

Trade and other receivables 10 324 631 6 209 858 
 

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired 
 

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2017, P 2 234 404 
(2016: P 1 786 879) were past due but not impaired. 

 
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows: 

   3 months past due 2 234 404 1 786 879 
 

Trade and other receivables impaired 
 

As of 31 March 2017, trade and other receivables of P 351 226 (2016: P 351 226) were impaired and provided for. The 
amount of the provision was P (351 226) as of 31 March 2017 (2016: P (351 226). 
The ageing of these loans is as follows: 

 
Over 6 months 351 226 351 226 
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5. Trade and other receivables (continued)  

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables 
 

Opening balance 
 

351 226 
 

395 529 
Amounts recovered/ collected ‐ (44 303) 

 351 226 351 226 
 

6. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
 

Bank balances 553 292 419 517 
 

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand 
 

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings or historical information about counterparty default rates: 

 
7. Capital grants 

 
Reconciliation of capital grants ‐ 2017 

 
Opening 
balance 

Additions Utilised during 
the year 

Total 

Capital grants 122 341 588 3 655 001 (4 935 986) 121 060 603 
 

Reconciliation of capital grants ‐ 2016 
 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Utilised during 
the year 

Total 

Capital grants 126 602 381 2 938 260 (7 199 053) 122 341 588 
 

The College receives grants from Government based on the budget approved by the Board and the Ministry of Tertiary Education 
Research, Science and Technology. The grant is allocated between revenue and capital expenditure by the Board based on the 
approved budget. The funds are not refundable by the College to Government under any circumstances. 

 
8. Trade and other payables 

 

Trade payables 199 239 57 627 
Staff related accruals 12 091 613 6 152 371 
Withholding Tax Payable 60 767 60 767 
Accrued expenses 11 193 133 7 054 680 
Other payables 4 378 245 5 022 215 

 27 922 997 18 347 660 
 

9. Deferred revenue 
 

Current liabilities  
‐ Tuition fee 4 203 004 5 594 591 
‐Other projects 1 611 710 212 342 

 5 814 714 5 806 933 

 
10.    Revenue 
 
Student application and tuition fees 

 
 

24 075 008 

 
 

19 707 279 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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5. Trade and other receivables (continued)  

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables 
 

Opening balance 
 

351 226 
 

395 529 
Amounts recovered/ collected ‐ (44 303) 

 351 226 351 226 
 

6. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
 

Bank balances 553 292 419 517 
 

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand 
 

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings or historical information about counterparty default rates: 

 
7. Capital grants 

 
Reconciliation of capital grants ‐ 2017 

 
Opening 
balance 

Additions Utilised during 
the year 

Total 

Capital grants 122 341 588 3 655 001 (4 935 986) 121 060 603 
 

Reconciliation of capital grants ‐ 2016 
 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Utilised during 
the year 

Total 

Capital grants 126 602 381 2 938 260 (7 199 053) 122 341 588 
 

The College receives grants from Government based on the budget approved by the Board and the Ministry of Tertiary Education 
Research, Science and Technology. The grant is allocated between revenue and capital expenditure by the Board based on the 
approved budget. The funds are not refundable by the College to Government under any circumstances. 

 
8. Trade and other payables 

 

Trade payables 199 239 57 627 
Staff related accruals 12 091 613 6 152 371 
Withholding Tax Payable 60 767 60 767 
Accrued expenses 11 193 133 7 054 680 
Other payables 4 378 245 5 022 215 

 27 922 997 18 347 660 
 

9. Deferred revenue 
 

Current liabilities  
‐ Tuition fee 4 203 004 5 594 591 
‐Other projects 1 611 710 212 342 

 5 814 714 5 806 933 

 
10.    Revenue 
 
Student application and tuition fees 

 
 

24 075 008 

 
 

19 707 279 
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11.    Other income 
 
Rental income 

 

 
 

631 506 

 

 
 

601 508 
Amortisation of capital grant 4 936 012 7 199 053 
Tender sales 27 900 36 500 
Other income 794 957 2 761 541 
Government grants 69 748 401 70 138 247 

 76 138 776 80 736 849 

 
12.    Operating profit (loss) 

  

 

Operating (deficit)/surplus for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others: 
 

Expenses by nature 
 

The total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses, marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, research and 
development expenses, maintenance expenses and other operating expenses are analysed by nature as follows: 

 

Employee costs 71 025 995 57 735 570 
Operating lease charges 1 172 144 667 016 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4 936 013 7 199 053 
Other expenses 30 269 466 38 470 511 

 107 403 618 104 072 150 

 
13.    Finance income 

  

 

Interest income  
From investments in financial assets: 
Bank and other cash 

 

 
 

19 460 

 

 
 

‐ 
Other financial assets 13 344 ‐ 

Total interest income 32 804 ‐ 

 
14.    Finance costs 

  

 

Interest paid 
 

406 
 

58 571 

 
15.    Taxation 

  

 

No provision for income tax is made as the College is exempt from income tax under the second schedule of the Income Tax Act. 
 

16.    Cash generated from (used in) operations 
 
(Deficit)/surplus before taxation 

 

 
 

(7 157 436) 

 

 
 

(3 686 593) 
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation and amortisation 4 936 013 7 199 053 
Interest income (32 804) ‐ 
Finance costs 406 58 571 
Amortisation of capital grant during the year (4 936 012) (7 199 053) 
Changes in working capital:   
Trade and other receivables (4 114 773) (2 838 643) 
Trade and other payables 9 575 337 6 299 496 

 (1 729 269) (167 169) 
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17.    Movement in grants 
 
Capital grants received during the year 

 

 
 

1 639 412 

 

 
 

3 437 624 
Project grants utilised during the year (826 809) (1 564 149) 
Grants utilised to acquire plant and equipment during the year (1 032 547) (4 761 099) 
Students deferred revenue received during the year 3 882 751 2 905 459 

 3 662 807 17 835 

 
18.    Related parties 

  

` 

Relationships   

 
Related party balances 

  

 

Amounts included in Trade receivable (Trade Payable) regarding related parties 
Ministry of Tertiary Education Research, Science and Technology 

 

 
7 004 302 

 

 
3 863 763 

Related party transactions   
 

Government Grants  
Ministry of Tertiary Education Research, Science and Technology 
Subvention 

 

 
 

71 387 930 

 

 
 

71 387 930 
Capital grants 1 032 674 2 938 260 

 

Board sitting fees 
Board sitting fees 

 

 
235 221 

 

 
64 407 

 

Remuneration of directors and other key management 
Salaries and other benefits 

 

 
11 302 578 

 

 
7 174 630 

Gratuity and leave pay 912 169 232 368 

               Figures in Pula                            2017       2016
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19.    Categories of financial instruments  

Note  Loans and 
receivables 

 
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost 

 
Equity and non 
financial assets 
and liabilities 

 
Total 

 

Categories of financial instruments ‐ 2017 
 
Assets 

 
Non‐Current Assets 

 

Property, plant and equipment 4 ‐ ‐ 110 347 781 110 347 781 
Investment property 3 ‐ ‐ 11 168 607 11 168 607 

  ‐ ‐ 121 516 388 121 516 388 

 
Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 

 
 

5 

 
 

10 228 977 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

95 654 

 
 

10 324 631 
Cash and cash equivalents 6 553 292 ‐ ‐ 553 292 

  10 782 269 ‐ 95 654 10 877 923 

Total Assets  10 782 269 ‐ 121 612 042 132 394 311 

 
Equity and Liabilities 

     

Equity 
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent: 
Accumulated loss 

  

 
 

‐ 

 

 
 

‐ 

 

 
 

(22 548 981) 

 

 
 

(22 548 981) 

Total Equity  ‐ ‐ (22 548 981) (22 548 981) 

 
Liabilities 

     

Non‐Current Liabilities 
Capital grants 

  

 
‐ 

 

 
‐ 

 

 
144 979 

 

 
144 979 

Provisions 7 ‐ ‐ 121 060 603 121 060 603 

  ‐ ‐ 121 205 582 121 205 582 

 
Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

 
 

8 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

27 922 997 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

27 922 997 
Deferred income 9 ‐ ‐ 5 814 713 5 814 713 

  ‐ 27 922 997 5 814 713 33 737 710 

Total Liabilities  ‐ 27 922 997 127 020 295 154 943 292 

Total Equity and Liabilities  ‐ 27 922 997 104 471 314 132 394 311 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

                         Figures in Pula                      2017                                       Figures in Pula                    2016
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Note  Loans and 
receivables 

 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost 

 

Equity and non 
financial assets 
and liabilities 

 

Total 

 

Categories of financial instruments ‐ 2016 
 
Assets 

 
Non‐Current Assets 

 

Property, plant and equipment 4 ‐ ‐ 113 188 932 113 188 932 
Investment property 3 ‐ ‐ 11 431 308 11 431 308 

  ‐ ‐ 124 620 240 124 620 240 

 
Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 

 
 

5 

 
 

6 171 095 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

38 763 

 
 

6 209 858 
Cash and cash equivalents 6 419 517 ‐ ‐ 419 517 

  6 590 612 ‐ 38 763 6 629 375 

Total Assets  6 590 612 ‐ 124 659 003 131 249 615 

 
Equity and Liabilities 

     

Equity 
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent: 
Accumulated loss 

  

 
 

‐ 

 

 
 

‐ 

 

 
 

(15 391 545) 

 

 
 

(15 391 545) 

Total Equity  ‐ ‐ (15 391 545) (15 391 545) 

 
Liabilities 

     

Non‐Current Liabilities 
Capital grants 

  

 
‐ 

 

 
‐ 

 

 
144 979 

 

 
144 979 

Provisions 7 ‐ ‐ 122 341 588 122 341 588 

  ‐ ‐ 122 486 567 122 486 567 

 
Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 

 
 

8 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

18 347 660 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

18 347 660 
Deferred income 9 ‐ ‐ 5 806 933 5 806 933 

  ‐ 18 347 660 5 806 933 24 154 593 

Total Liabilities  ‐ 18 347 660 128 293 500 146 641 160 

Total Equity and Liabilities  ‐ 18 347 660 112 901 955 131 249 615 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

                                Figures in Pula                    2016
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20.    Risk management 
 

Capital risk management 
 

The College's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the College's ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide services to its students by pricing services appropriately. 

 
Since the college is a statutory corporation incorporated through an Act of Parliament, the College is also subject to Government 
policies on capital Management. 

 
Capital is raised in the form of Government subventions to acquire assets and also to enable the operations. 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements applicable to the college. 

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 
requirements from the previous year. 

 
Financial risk management 

 
The College’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
The company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the College’s financial performance. 

 
Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the board of directors. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that operations can not be funded and financial commitments can not be met timeously and cost effectively. 
The risk arises from both the difference between magnitude of assets and liabilities and the distortion in their maturities. Liquidity risk 
management deals with the overall profile of the statement of financial position, the funding requirements of the College and cash 
flows. 

 
The table below analyses the company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 
At 31 March 2017 Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 and 

2 years 
Trade and other payables 27 388 828  ‐ 
Retention payable  ‐ 144 979 

 
At 31 March 2016 Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 and 

2 years 
Trade and other payables 18 286 893  ‐ 
Retention payable  ‐ 144 979 
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	 	Financial	instrument	 2017	 2016	
BancABC	 16	360	 16	442	
Barclays	Bank	of	Botswana	Limited	 58	403	 222	651	
Botswana	Savings	Bank	 73	840	 819	615	
First	National	Bank	Botswana	Limited	 153	831	 1	052	828	
Stanlib	Investment	Management	Services	(Proprietary)	Limited	 105	310	 101	416	
Student	debtors	 9	321	473	 6	142	135	

	

 

Figures in Pula 2017 2016 
 
 

20.    Risk management  

Credit risk 

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. The College only 
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter‐party. 

 
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows: 

 
` 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The College maintains deposits and balances only with major banks with high credit standing and limits exposure to any one 
counter‐party. The College has deposits with the First National Bank of Botswana Limited, Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited, African 
Banking Corporation of Botswana Limited, Stanbic Bank of Botswana Limited and Botswana Savings Bank. There are no credit ratings 
available in Botswana for financial institutions. The above banks are either listed or long established banks and have reported sound 
financial results and continued compliance with minimal capital adequacy requirements. 

 
The First National Bank of Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a subsidiary of First Rand Bank 
Limited, a company listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The credit rating of the First Rand Limited is BBB+ 

 
African Banking Corporation Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a wholly owned subsidiary of African 
Banking Corporation Holding Limited and has a credit rating of BBB+ 

 
Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited is a long established bank in Botswana and a subsidiary of Standard Bank in South Africa. Standard 
Bank South Africa is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and has a credit rating of BBB (Fitch rating). Botswana 

Savings Bank is a long established bank in Botswana and is wholly owned by the Government of Botswana.  

Foreign exchange risk 

The College is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the South Africa 
Rand. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities. 

 
At 31 March 2017, if the currency had strengthened by 10% against the South African Rand with all other variables held constant, 
post‐tax profit for the year would have been P 293 (2016: P 39 540) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on 
translation of South African Rand denominated cash and cash equivalents. 

 
At 31 March 2017, if the currency had weakened by 10% against the South African Rand with all other variables held constant, post‐ tax 
profit for the year would have been P 293 (2016: P 39 540) lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of 
South African Rand denominated cash and cash equivalents. 

 
Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period 

 
Current assets 
Bank balance ZAR 3 706 (2016: ZAR 604 092) 3 007 434 943 

 
Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were: 

 
` 

ZAR 1.2315 1.3889 

  Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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21.    Fair value information

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can access at measurement 
date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
There are no assets and liabilities measured under the different level mentioned above.

Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost for which the fair value is disclosed he carrying amount of the following financial 
assets and liabilities is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value:
•	 trade	and	other	receivables
•	 cash	and	cash	equivalents
•	 trade	and	other	payables
•	 retention	payable

22.    Events after the reporting period

The proposed transformation of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning into a university was approved by the Botswana 
Parliament. The Botswana Open University Bill (Bill No16 of 2017 published on 26 May 2017), was approved by Parliament on 20 
July 2017.  The object of the Bill is re‐enact the Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning Act (CAP.57:03) to provide for 
the continuation of the Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning established under section 3 of the Botswana College of 
Distance and Open Learning Act under the new name of the Botswana Open University

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Figures in Pula Note 2017 2016 
 

 
Revenue 
Student application and tuition fees 

  
 

24 075 008 

 
 

19 707 279 
 
Other operating income 

   

Other rental income  631 506 601 508 
Amortisation of capital  4 936 012 7 199 053 
Tenders  27 900 36 500 
Other income  794 957 2 761 541 
Government grants  69 748 401 70 138 247 

 11 76 138 776 80 736 849 

 
Expenses (Refer to page     ) 

  
(107 403 618) 

 
(104 072 150) 

Operating (deficit) surplus 12 (7 189 834) (3 628 022) 
Finance income 13 32 804 ‐ 
Finance costs 14 (406) (58 571) 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year  (7 157 436) (3 686 593) 

Detailed Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Other operating expenses 
Administration and management fees 

  
 

(235 221) 

 
 

(64 407) 
Auditors remuneration ‐ external auditors 12 (193 052) (199 403) 
Bad debts  ‐ 38 683 
Bank charges  (873 545) (580 816) 
Consulting and professional fees  ‐ (196 400) 
Consumables  (97 150) (93 585) 
Depreciation  (4 936 013) (7 199 053) 
Donations  ‐ (8 000) 
Employee costs  (71 025 995) (57 735 570) 
Entertainment  (66 520) (94 317) 
Examination expenses  (2 200 024) (1 145 028) 
Hire charges  (2 082 342) (2 071 336) 
IT expenses  (564 652) (464 642) 
Insurance  (1 716 859) (1 062 583) 
Learner material  (1 811 354) (7 663 897) 
Lease rentals on operating lease  (1 172 144) (667 016) 
Legal expenses  (1 432) (28 246) 
Library books  (114 363) (218 395) 
Library resources  (101 466) (30 952) 
License fees  (1 379 659) (1 179 141) 
Medical expenses  ‐ (601 788) 
Moderators fees  (27 048) (12 696) 
Motor vehicle expenses  (265 479) (277 964) 
Municipal expenses  (3 176 648) (1 917 864) 
Other expenses  (1 380 839) (1 718 559) 
Partnership fees, development and maintenance  (1 081 670) (3 355 441) 
Postage  (254 089) (147 041) 
Printing and stationery  (700 553) (748 457) 
Programs expenditure  (1 516 521) (1 434 585) 
Promotions  (565 567) (889 979) 
Protective clothing  (22 739) (9 070) 
Repairs and maintenance  (2 900 321) (3 505 849) 
Staff welfare  (274 657) (333 881) 
Subscriptions  (63 704) (82 630) 
Teaching aids and audio cassettes  (42 119) (72 281) 
Telephone and fax  (764 543) (631 145) 
Training  (128 348) (149 537) 
Travel ‐ local  (589 455) (778 031) 
Travel ‐ overseas  (392 985) (888 835) 
Tutor and writer expenses  (4 684 542) (5 852 413) 

(107 403 618) (104 072 150) 




